IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-1525

WAGNER, VAUGHAN, McLAUGHLIN & BRENNAN, P.A.,

Petitioner,

VS.

KENNEDY LAW GROUP,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WAGNER VAUGHAN, McLAUGHLIN & BRENNAN, P.A. 601 Bayshore Boulevard, Suite 910 Tampa, Florida 33606-2786 PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. City National Bank, Suite 800 25 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Tel.: 305-358-2800

By: JOEL D. EATON Fla. Bar No.: 203513 STEPHEN F. ROSENTHAL Fla. Bar No.: 0131458

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Wagner, Vaughan, McLaughlin & Brennan, P.A. ("the Wagner firm") appeals a probate court order denying it any fee for its representation of two of the three survivors of Mr. and Mrs. Robert Earl Elmore, the unfortunate victims of a head-on collision which occurred when a driver crossed the median into the path of their oncoming vehicle on June 27, 2005.¹ The deaths of Mr. and Mrs. Elmore left three adult brothers, Robert, Gary and Larry, as the survivors. Gary Elmore retained the Kennedy Law Group ("KLG"), Respondent here, and was appointed sole personal representative of his parents' estates. Larry and Robert Elmore retained the Wagner firm. No suit was ever filed, and the survivors' potential claims were resolved at a pre-suit mediation for \$1.23 million. The probate court awarded the entire attorney's fee for all three brothers' recoveries to KLG. The Wagner firm got nothing.

The facts pertinent to the primary issue raised in this appeal -- whether § 768.26, Fla. Stat. (1972) applies to a pre-suit settlement -- can be stated very briefly. No suit was ever filed in this case.² The lawyers for each of the survivors

¹ Mrs. Elmore was killed in the collision; Mr. Elmore died a week later from his injuries. R2:384-85.

² See Tr. at 43, 110, 227. "Tr." refers to the consecutively paginated transcript of the January 11, 2007 attorneys' fee hearing appearing at Volumes 5-6 of the record. Citations to the record are designated "R[volume]:[pages]."

had written contingency fee agreements with their clients. Larry Elmore hired the Wagner firm on June 28, 2005, the day after the accident. R3:479-482; R4:541-628 at 5. Gary Elmore signed up with KLG on the same day. Tr. at 54-55, 63-64. Robert Elmore sought counsel from Weldon ("Web") Brennan of the Wagner firm as early as September 2005 (R4:541-628 at 6, 62; Tr. at 161, 205, 267, 270), but he waited nine months until the morning of the mediation, to sign a fee agreement. R3:483-487. At the pre-suit mediation which produced the \$1.23 million settlement, Mr. Brennan represented Larry and Robert, and Jon Malcowksi of KLG represented Gary. R2:371-380, ¶ 20; Tr. at 105.

If the Court resolves the first issue on appeal in the Wagner firm's favor, it need not consider the following additional facts, which relate to the third issue on appeal, concerning the conflict between the Elmore brothers.

A. Bad Blood Between the Brothers

Well before the accident, Gary Elmore had become estranged from his brothers. By the time of the accident, Robert and Gary had not been speaking to each other for seven to eight years. Tr. at 279. Robert "didn't trust Gary" because he believed Gary had tried to kill him by trying to run him over with a car. Tr. at 267, 272. Larry wasn't fond of Gary either; he still harbored resentment against Gary for refusing to apologize to him for destroying his car thirty years beforehand. Tr. at 254-55, 264. When the brothers were forced together by the tragic circumstances of the accident, the old fault lines between Gary and his brothers reopened.

On the night of the accident, Gary and Larry met at the hospital where their father was still in the intensive care unit, clinging to his life. Larry testified that when they arrived at the hospital, "the first thing Gary wanted to do immediately" was to "shut off" their father's life support. Tr. at 255. Larry disagreed strenuously, as did the physicians caring for Mr. Elmore. R4:629-684 at 8-9, 29-30.³ According to Larry, even after the chief trauma surgeon told Gary that it would be premature to discontinue life support, Gary argued with the doctor in an effort to have the "plug" pulled on his father. Tr. at 256. The surgeon refused to do so absent proof that Mr. Elmore had signed a "do not resuscitate" order. Id. Larry testified that Gary lied to the chief trauma surgeon that other doctors had examined their father and told them that he is "brain dead" when, in fact, no such tests had actually been done. Id. Mr. Elmore's condition never did improve, though, and he passed away within a week. Gary's behavior at their father's death bed upset Larry (R4:629-684 at 30) and truly outraged Robert, who felt that "Gary

³ This citation is to Larry's deposition transcript, which was taken for purposes of the fee hearing. It was admitted in evidence by stipulation of the parties at the fee hearing. So was the deposition of Robert Elmore. *See* Tr. at 139.

should be tried for murder for murdering my father." R4:541-628 at 68; *see also id.* at 65.

Robert never came to the hospital because, he testified, Gary "banned" him from going there. Tr. at 266. Later, he also refused to tell Robert where the funeral was and threatened to have him arrested if he showed up. Tr. at 177, 258, 266.

The day after the accident, Larry retained Mr. Brennan of the Wagner firm to represent him in a potential wrongful death action. *Id.* at 5; R3:479-482 (fee agreement). Mr. Brennan had come recommended by Mr. and Mrs. Elmore's family business attorney. R4:649-684 at 8. Larry had urged Gary to sign on with Mr. Brennan, but Gary chose to hire separate counsel. *Id.* On the same day, Gary signed the first of four fee agreements with KLG. Tr. at 54-55, 63-64.⁴

In their wills, Mr. and Mrs. Elmore had named a family friend as both executor and trustee of a pour-over trust. *See* R1:32-111, Ex. A. They had named Gary as the first alternate executor and trustee. David Whigham, a probate attorney whom KLG associated to handle the estate and whom Gary retained (Tr.

⁴ In none of those agreements did Gary seek representation in his individual capacity, only as attorney in fact or legal guardian of his parents and, later, as personal representative of his parents' estates. *Id.* at 64-68. Mr. Malcowski testified, however, that it was his intent to represent Gary as a survivor as well. Tr. at 73.

at 20-21), contacted the family friend and ascertained that he did not wish to serve as executor. R1:135-136. After facilitating his withdrawal as executor, Mr. Malcowski filed papers with the probate court in July 2005 requesting that Gary be appointed sole personal representative.

In connection with that effort, Gary approached each of his brothers to procure their signatures on the forms approving his appointment. Each reluctantly signed. According to Larry, he signed "under duress" because Gary told him that "if you don't sign them, you won't get no money. . . . We have to go through my attorney[.]" Tr. at 251. Robert recounted a similar exchange with Gary. He received the forms in the mail but "refused to sign" them. Tr. at 266. Gary then repeatedly called him, telling Robert that he needed to sign them. *Id.* Robert protested, "I'm not signing anything you hand to me." *Id.* But when Gary told him "it's either you sign it or you don't get a dime," Robert ultimately relented. *Id.* On August 3, 2005, the probate court appointed Gary as the sole personal representative of Mr. and Mrs. Elmore's estates. Tr. at 10-11; R1:10-13; R1:224-227.

B. Conflicts Surrounding the Estate's Settlement With the Tortfeasor's Liability Insurer in August 2005

In July 2005, KLG ascertained that the tortfeasor carried \$200,000 in bodily injury liability insurance. R1:22-31, ¶ 2-3. Mr. Malcowski asked Gary to speak to his brothers to secure their agreement to make a demand for the policy limits. Id. ¶ 1. Mr. Malcowski did not speak to Robert or Larry himself. See id. Gary reported back that his brothers were in agreement. Id. & Ex. 1 (Gary Elmore Aff.), ¶ 6-7. Mr. Malcowski thereafter sent a demand letter in late July, and a week later the insurance company offered to tender the \$200,000 policy limit. Id. ¶¶ 3-4. On August 15, 2005, KLG distributed the net proceeds of the settlement, \$133,333.33, to Gary. Id. ¶ 6 & Ex. A, ¶ 9. The Elmore trust provided that excess estate assets were to be shared by the three brothers equally. R1:32-111, Ex. A at 17 (¶ 7.09). Gary then obtained two cashier's checks in the amount of \$44,444.66 each, representing a third of the net proceeds, and distributed them to his brothers. Id., Ex. A, ¶ 11.

Robert thought it was "wrong" that his check had been drawn on an account in Gary's name, so at Larry's recommendation he contacted Mr. Brennan and sought legal representation. R4:541-628 at 6; Tr. at 267, 270. Although he held off signing a fee agreement for another nine months, Robert testified that he considered Mr. Brennan to have been acting as his lawyer since roughly August 2005. *See* R4:541-628 at 6, 62. Mr. Brennan provided him advice and information from that point forward. Tr. at 161, 205, 270. Robert finally signed a fee agreement with the Wagner firm on the morning of the mediation. *See* R3:483-487.

On August 17, 2005, Mr. Brennan, who had not been given any notice of and was thus unaware of the settlement, wrote to Mr. Malcowski to inform him that he represented Larry Elmore and to propose a fee-sharing arrangement between their law firms for the anticipated wrongful death action. R3:488. Mr. Brennan proposed that the two firms participate equally in handling the litigation and split the attorney's fees earned by whatever recovery could be obtained for Gary and Larry Elmore. *Id.* When he spoke to Mr. Malcowski later that day, Mr. Brennan learned that KLG had already consummated a settlement with the liability insurer on behalf of the estates and that the proceeds were in the process of being disbursed to the Elmore brothers. Tr. at 164; R3:471.

Two days later, Mr. Brennan wrote Messrs. Malcowski and Whigham to inform them that Larry "*does not approve of the distribution apportionment*." R3:471(emphasis added); Tr. at 93. Mr. Brennan added:

By copy of this letter to John D. Malcowski, I am requesting that he immediately stop payment on the checks and immediately provide an explanation in writing as well and I am demanding that he take no further action in pursuit of this claim until these matters are settled or until a court of law determines the appropriate course.

R3:471. Larry Elmore was copied on the letter. Mr. Brennan spoke to Mr. Whigham after sending this letter and made clear to him his strenuous objection to the unilateral manner in which the settlement had proceeded. Tr. at 168-69. Mr. Whigham then wrote his co-counsel, Mr. Malcowski, on August 23, 2005 to inform him of the significance of Larry Elmore's objection:

I was recently contacted by Weldon E. Brennan, Esq., who represents Larry Elmore, in regards to the wrongful death of Thelma and Robert Elmore. *Mr. Brennan is not in agreement with the proposed threeway apportionment of the current proceeds from the action*. Absent an agreement among all survivors, any apportionment of survivorship proceeds must be approved by the Probate Court.

It is my understanding that you have already disbursed the net proceeds to the survivors. It is imperative that the disbursement be undone to the greatest extent possible pending an apportionment hearing before the court.

R3:472 (emphasis added); Tr. at 94.

After a week passed without response from Mr. Malcowski, Mr. Brennan

faxed him another letter, with a copy to Larry, in which he reiterated Larry's

objection to the disbursement. Tr. at 95, 168; R3:473. The letter stated, in part:

... [T]hese funds must be placed in the probate court and notice be given to the survivors so that they can timely object to the disbursement and have a fair and adequate resolution as to the amounts of the disbursement. Your actions in this matter have been improper Rest assured, my client does not agree with the disbursement in the manner in which you made it and moreover, you are not entitled to give the check to the personal representative and ask the personal representative to split the money between the

survivors. . . . [W]e object to your unilateral actions without the benefit of our input. You have known for quite some time that Larry Elmore was represented by counsel and despite that fact, *you have taken actions to his detriment*. Please cease and desist immediately in that regard.

R3:473 (emphasis added); see Tr. at 168.

C. Larry's Effort to Disqualify Gary As Personal Representative

On the same day, Mr. Brennan filed a petition in the probate court on behalf of Larry to remove Gary as personal representative and to compel the return of the settlement proceeds to Mr. Whigham's trust account. See R1:124-134. Mr. Brennan sought an "emergency hearing" on the petition. Id. (cover letter). In an amended petition filed several days later, Mr. Brennan served notice of the specific improprieties that Larry was accusing Gary of having committed. R1:32-111. Those included an allegation that Gary had removed property from their parents' house without an accounting to his brothers (id. \P 1, 5), sold the parents' organ for \$500 cash and kept the money himself (*id.* \P 5), sold his father's car to Larry for \$2,500 but forced Larry to write a check to Gary rather than to the estate (*id.* \P 6), threatened Larry that if he disagreed with any of Gary's actions that Larry would be entitled to nothing under the will (*id.* \P 7), and presented a document to Larry to sign away his right to one-third of the value of his parents' home and threatened that if Larry did not sign it he would be thrown out of the estate (*id.* ¶ 8). The petition also stated that Larry had found the original will and trust of Mr. and Mrs. Elmore in the trash in the garage of his parents' home and alleged that Gary had thrown it away in a ploy to become the personal representative. *Id.* ¶¶ 2-4.⁵

On August 31, 2005, the probate court held a telephonic status conference but denied Larry's petition because it was procedurally deficient. *See* Tr. at 25, 202. After the conference, in defense of the propriety of his handling of the estate, Mr. Whigham wrote the probate court a letter in which he divulged for the first time (to Mr. Brennan) the actions that were taken to relieve Mr. and Mrs. Elmore's friend as designated executor of the wills, the process that led to Gary Elmore's appointment as personal representative, and the reason that the estate was opened with a copy of the will rather than the original. R1:135-136. The Wagner firm did not renew the petition to disqualify Gary as personal representative.

D. The Wagner Firm's Objections to KLG's Handling of the Estates' Settlement

Mr. Brennan continued to place KLG on notice that concerns remained about their failure to satisfy all of their costs out of the estates' settlement proceeds

⁵ The Wagner firm did not assert any claim to an entitlement to attorney's fees for the \$200,000 estate settlement, which was accomplished prior to their involvement. R3:397-463 at 7. KLG took a fee of \$66,000 from the estate settlement. R2:371-380, ¶ 13.

and their failure to hold back money in escrow in the estates to pay any liens that may be asserted by the hospital for Mr. Elmore's treatment. As Mr. Brennan had alerted KLG in the petition, the hospital would "undoubtedly" be asserting liens for medical care of Mr. Elmore, and the failure to retain funds from the settlement to cover those liens "potentially expos[ed] the survivors . . . to personal liability." R1:124-134, ¶ 15.

As it turned out, Mr. Elmore's health insurer, Humana, eventually did assert a lien against the estate for \$18,996.06 in payments it made for care Mr. Elmore received at Tampa General Hospital. *See* R3:497-501. Because Messrs. Malcowski and Whigham had not retained funds from the settlement in their trust accounts for that eventuality, they subsequently sought to apply the lien against a second settlement reached eight months later in May 2006 with Mr. and Mrs. Elmore's uninsured motorist ("UM") carrier. That settlement however was to be allocated solely to the survivors' claims, not to the estates. *See* R3:492-496.⁶

KLG conceded that the firm had neglected to net out several thousand dollars of its costs associated with the \$200,000 estates' settlement before distributing the proceeds. Tr. at 28 (stipulation). One such cost item was a \$2,000

⁶ Fortunately for the Elmore brothers, it later turned out that Humana had failed to assert its claim properly in the estate, so the probate court rejected it. *See* Tr. at 39.

bill to an economist named Fred Raffa, which was billed and paid by KLG on August 3, 2005, more than a week before the firm disbursed the net proceeds of the estate settlement. Tr. at 121. Even though those were estate costs, KLG sought to tax those costs against each of the Elmore brother's individual recoveries out of the May 2006 UM settlement. *See* R3:492-96 (closing statement listing \$8,052.49 in costs). Mr. Brennan objected to KLG taxing those costs to his clients, but they did so anyway. *See* R2:371-380, ¶ 38(c). The probate court nonetheless later approved that taxation of costs. R1:197, ¶ E.

E. Conflicts Surrounding the \$1.23 Million Settlement With the Uninsured Motorist Carrier

Mr. and Mrs. Elmore had carried a \$2 million UM policy with the Hartford Insurance Company. At some point after the August 31, 2005 conference with the probate court on Larry's petition to disqualify Gary as personal representative, KLG sent a demand to Hartford for its UM insurance proceeds. R2:371-380, ¶ 19. In the Spring of 2006, still prior to any suit having been filed, Hartford requested a pre-suit mediation. *Id.* Mr. Brennan actively participated in this process. He and Mr. Malcowski, along with counsel for Hartford, jointly selected a mediator, and the mediation was scheduled for and took place on May 12, 2006. *See* R3:474-475. Mr. Brennan attended the mediation, along with both Larry and Robert Elmore. Tr. at 105; R2:371-380, ¶ 20. Just before the mediation session began, Mr. Brennan met with Mr. Malcowski and Hartford's counsel to clarify that the upcoming settlement discussions would pertain to the survivors' claims only, not to the estate, because its interests had been fully satisfied by the August 2005 settlement. *See* Tr. at 102. The parties subsequently disagreed concerning whether any such conversation occurred inside or outside of mediation.⁷ In any event, Mr. Whigham testified that the resulting \$1.23 million settlement "only involve[d] the survivors," and the money was intended to go "outside of the estate." Tr. at 19, 43. *See also id.* at 199 (Mr. Brennan); R3:397-463 at 4.⁸

⁷ KLG took the position that it was part of and in furtherance of the mediation and thus covered by the confidentiality provisions of § 44.403, Fla. Stat. They objected to the Wagner firm's attempt at the subsequent fee hearing to elicit testimony from Mr. Malcowski concerning the substance of that conversation. Tr. at 103-105. The probate court agreed and refused to permit testimony on the subject. *See Id.* at 105, 142, 146.

Relatedly, KLG filed a memorandum in anticipation of the fee hearing which effectively waived the mediation privilege, *see* § 44.405(b), concerning the fact that at the mediation Mr. Brennan once again offered to enter into a feesplitting agreement with KLG on a 50%-50% basis, but Mr. Malcowski again refused. R2:371-380, ¶ 20.

⁸ Because Mr. and Mrs. Elmore died close in time to one another, their adult sons could bring claims for lost parental companionship, instruction, guidance and pain and suffering. *See* § 768.21(3), Fla. Stat.

The mediation produced a settlement of \$1.23 million, but the allocation between the brothers remained unresolved until later that day. Mr. Brennan memorialized his clients' positions in a letter to Mr. Malcowski at the end of the day following the mediation. R3:466-467. He stated that "this case could have and should have settled for significantly more than \$1.23 million dollars." Id. After "extensive discussions with [his] clients," however, Mr. Brennan informed Mr. Malcowski that Larry and Robert were "willing to approve the settlement . . . on the express condition that each receive one-third out of the total amount (or \$410,000.00) out of the settlement proceeds." Id. He added that his clients believed "that their individual survival action would have been higher at trial than Gary's, due to the facts of this case," but that "they have instructed [Mr. Brennan] to agree to the distribution of one-third to each brother (or a total of \$410,000.00 to each)." Id. Mr. Whigham admitted that upon receipt of a copy of this letter, he understood that Larry and Robert had offered to "compromise . . . their position" and "settle for a one-third share" "in order to obtain family harmony." Tr. at 30-31, 33, see also id. at 294.

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