IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WAGNER, VAUGHAN, McLAUGHLIN & BRENNAN, P.A.,

Petitioner,

CASE NO: SC08-1525

vs.

LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NOS: 2D07-910, 2D07-941

KENNEDY LAW GROUP,

Respondent.

ON PETITIONER'S REQUEST FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STEVEN L. HEARN Florida Bar No. 350801 JEANNE Z. MCLEAN Florida Bar No. 608548 STEVEN L. HEARN, P.A. 625 East Twiggs Street Suite 102 Tampa, FL 33602 Telephone: (813) 222-0003 Telefax: (813) 222-0004

Attorneys for Respondent

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

Second, an attorney contacted by a survivor may rely upon <u>Wiggins</u> and <u>Catapane</u> in determining whether that survivor, in fact, requires representation by counsel other than counsel retained by the Personal Representative. If that survivor indicates no desire to pursue competing claims, or otherwise provides no indication of any potential conflict of interest, counsel simply can refer the survivor back to the attorneys retained by the Personal Representative. If an attorney accepts representation of a survivor on a contingency fee basis with knowledge the survivor does not intend to pursue any competing claims, that attorney must recognize the potential a court will refuse to provide compensation under the guidelines established by <u>Wiggins</u> and <u>Catapane</u>.

In reviewing this issue, one must distinguish between the "right" to representation by independent counsel versus the "desire" to be represented by counsel other than that selected by the Personal Representative. While numerous reasons may exist for a survivor to "desire" to be represented by other counsel, those desires do not necessarily equate with a "right" to retain counsel. For example, in this proceeding the evidence in the trial court was that one of the survivors wanted the Personal Representative to hire the firm the survivor selected - the Wagner Firm - to also represent the estate in the wrongful death claim.¹¹ See Merits Brief at 4. Nonetheless, the Personal Representative properly exercised his discretion and retained counsel of his choice. See T. at 12, 54. That decision was based not upon any conflict of interest or competing claims but instead upon a simple difference in opinion regarding what firm should be hired.

¹¹ Apparently regardless of the alleged "bad blood" between the brothers.

Disagreements regarding a personal representative's exercise of its discretionary power to retain counsel are appropriately addressed in the probate proceedings.12 This type of non-conflict difference of opinion is an example of only one of many potential scenarios in which the "right" to retain independent counsel discussed in <u>Wiggins</u> and <u>Catapane</u> must be limited. Otherwise, this Court risks creating an unlimited and unfettered "right" to retain their own counsel based solely upon a survivor's desires or opinions and not upon the need for protection of substantive rights.

The Wagner Firm asks this Court to create a right to retain counsel based upon the premise there will be conflicts of interest, whether disclosed or not, among <u>all</u> survivors. Such an overboard mandate would require separate representation in <u>every</u> case. Additionally, the contractual expectation of the Personal Representative's counsel would always be subject to alteration because of unknown and undisclosed "conflicts." This will enable counsel for survivors to consistently claim fees, as in this matter, by proclaiming "My client had an objection I didn't tell you about, but now has waived it." The equitable and

¹² Even those discretionary powers a personal representative is authorized to exercise without prior court approval, such as the power to retain counsel, must be exercised "acting reasonably for the benefit of interested persons." <u>See</u> §733.612, Florida Statutes (2008). The Personal Representative is personally liable for improper exercise of those powers. §733.609, Florida Statutes (2008).

reasonable approach is to require some minimum disclosure of any conflict. This enables counsel for the Personal Representative to evaluate its ethical duties and address, at the earliest possible moment, any potential issues regarding allocation of the contingency fee.

(b) Absence of Action by Authorized Personal Representative

The second fact circumstance already appropriately addressed by Florida law involves the rights of parties to retain and compensate counsel when no personal representative has been appointed or when no authorized action has been taken by joint personal representatives. In those circumstances, Florida courts consistently and appropriately have refused to apply Florida Statutes §768.26 and have refused to award fees to an attorney from the recoveries of survivors with whom that attorney has no contract.

When exercising fiduciary powers, a "majority" of multiple personal representatives must act jointly. §733.615, Fla. Stat. (2008). In the instance of two personal representatives, that "majority" necessarily requires consent by both personal representatives. <u>See id.</u> This requirement applies to retention of counsel by an estate in a wrongful death action. <u>Costello v. Davis</u>, 890 So. 2d 1179, 1180 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). In <u>Costello</u>, the decedent's mother and father were divorced and each retained separate counsel for representation in bringing a

wrongful death action. At the time the father filed wrongful death proceedings, both parties had filed competing petitions for appointment as personal representative but no personal representative had been appointed. The probate court subsequently appointed both parties as joint personal representatives. Because the personal representatives failed to act jointly in retaining counsel, the appellate court ruled there existed no contract between the Estate and wrongful death counsel and, therefore, the compensation for each attorney was limited to the recovery for the party with whom that attorney had a specific contract. <u>Id</u>.

A similar result was reached by the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Perez</u> v. <u>George, Hartz, Lundeen, Flagg & Fulmer</u>, 662 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). In <u>Perez</u>, the divorced parents of a decedent each retained separate counsel for representation in a wrongful death proceeding. Prior to appointment of any personal representatives for the estate, the survivors attended pre-suit mediation and accepted a settlement. <u>Id.</u> at 363. The probate court subsequently appointed both parents as joint personal representatives. The appellate court confirmed that the counsel for the decedent's mother was not entitled to collect a fee from the recovery on behalf of the father "because at no time did [the father] sign a contract with [the mother's counsel] for legal services..." <u>Id.</u> at 364. Thus, in the absence of a contract executed by the father, either individually or with the other co-personal representative, there could be no valid and binding contract entitling the mother's counsel to compensation from the father's recovery.

Florida law also provides guidance in circumstances in which a personal representative retains counsel, but the probate court later appoints a joint personal representative who retains separate counsel. In <u>Garces v. Montano</u>, the decedent's husband initially was appointed as sole personal representative of the estate. <u>Garces v. Montano</u>,947 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006). The personal representative retained counsel who "proceeded with extensive investigations, pre-suit discovery and work on the case, and later filed a wrongful death action." <u>Id.</u> at 501. Long after the initial personal representative retained counsel, the natural father of the decedent's sons retained separate counsel and was appointed as co-personal representative. <u>Id.</u> at 501. After a pretrial settlement, the trial court refused to allow the attorneys retained by the original personal representative to compensation from any recovery on behalf of the children.

On appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court, expressly finding there was "no legal basis in the record to conclude that a conflict of interest existed...." Id. at 503, and that "the facts raised by [the children's attorney] to bolster its argument that a conflict existed, have no bearing on the issue in the medical malpractice case..." Id. at 503. The court remanded the

41

matter to the trial court for an allocation of fees based upon "the amount of work that each group of attorneys [for each co-personal representative] did on the case." Id. at 504.

The principles within these authorities can be consolidated into a simple bright line test which honors the policies of the Wrongful Death Act while protecting the substantive interests of any competing beneficiaries and their counsel:

Counsel for the Personal Representative is entitled to compensation of the full contingency fee from proceeds obtained, pre-suit or otherwise, pursuant to \$768.26, Fla. Stat. but only if (1) a duly appointed Personal Representative (or the majority of multiple personal representatives) enters a written contract with counsel to represent the personal representative to fulfill its duties under \$768.20, **and** (2) there are no known or reasonably ascertainable competing claims among the beneficiaries or estate that would preclude counsel for the personal representative from acting on behalf of all parties. If the first condition is not satisfied, \$768.26 does not apply because there is no personal representative authorized to act (even if no conflict exists). If the second condition is not satisfied, the allocation procedures described in <u>Catapane</u> and confirmed in <u>Wiggins</u> shall apply.

(5) <u>Wiggins</u> and <u>Catapane</u> Do Not Limit Recovery of Fees for Estate-related Services

Based upon the evidence in the record on appeal, it appears the Wagner Firm provided representation to its clients, in their capacities as Estate beneficiaries, to challenge the initial appointment of the Personal Representative, the qualifications of the Personal Representative, distributions and payments made by the Personal Representative, and other matters related to the Probate Administration. <u>See generally</u> Merits Brief at pp. 4-5, 8-10. Although <u>Wiggins</u> and <u>Catapane</u> both confirm cumulative attorneys fees for representation with respect to the wrongful death claim cannot exceed those maximum levels permitted under rule 4-1.5 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, neither decision proposes limitation of fees other services provided by attorneys.

Implicit in the position of the Wagner Firm is that compensation for the "fair value of [Brennan's] work" in the underlying preceding should include compensation for the estate related services, <u>see</u> Merits Brief at 42, and that the trial court application of <u>Wiggins</u> and <u>Catapane</u> somehow inequitably deprived them of that compensation. To the contrary, had the Wagner Firm been successful in the probate proceedings, they would have been entitled to compensation from the Estates pursuant to §§733.106 & 733.609(2), Fla.

Stat.(2008). Even in the event of failure in those proceedings, the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar do not prevent the Wagner Firm from receiving reasonable compensation from their clients for the services they provided in the probate proceedings (unless, of course, the terms of their engagement provided otherwise). Thus, to a large extent, the Wagner Firm had the ability and opportunity to be compensated for "the work it did on behalf of its clients." <u>See</u> Merits Brief at 43.

C. There Exists No Basis or Need for the Court to Consider Any Issues Other than Those Raised as the Basis for Conflict Jurisdiction

In this proceeding, this Court exercised discretionary jurisdiction based upon the Wagner Firm assertion of a conflict between the holding in the underlying 2d DCA decision and a footnote in the 3rd DCA in <u>Perez</u>. Although, as noted above, appellee maintains its position that the factual distinctions between the cases prevent any interpretation resulting in a conflict, this Court's resolution of that perceived conflict should constitute all judicial labor necessary in this matter.

If this court elects to adopt the <u>Perez</u> footnote and rule that §768.26 applies only after a personal representative files a complaint with a court, any further consideration of the underlying factual evidence is unnecessary. <u>Cf.</u> Merits Brief at 2. If, on the other hand, this Court reaffirms its prior application of §768.26 in a pre-suit situation (and similar application in the Second, Fourth, and Fifth District Courts of Appeal), there exist no underlying policies or other rationales for this court to second-guess both the trial court's interpretation of the evidence presented and the determination by the Second District Court of Appeal regarding whether that trial court decision was supported by substantial competent evidence.

In discussing the scope of its powers to review decisions of the Courts of Appeal, this Court previously has indicated:

The scope of review by the Supreme Court of the decision of a Court of Appeal is extremely limited when the ground of asserting jurisdiction is an alleged conflict of such decision with the decision of another appellate court on the same point of law..... Courts of Appeal are and were meant to be Courts of final appellate jurisdiction in the vast majority of cases, and ... it is only to harmonize and standardize decisions that this Court may presume to interfere. 'Sustaining the dignity of the decisions of the district courts of appeal must depend largely on the determination of the Supreme Court not to venture beyond the limitations of its own powers by arrogating to itself the right to delve into a decision of a district court of appeal primarily to decide whether or not the Supreme Court agrees with the district court of appeal about the disposition of a given case.'

South Florida Hospital Corporation v. McRae, 118 So.2d 25, 27, 28 (Fla. 1960) (quoting Justice Thomas in Lake v. Lake, 103 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1958)

This Court clearly has discretion to consider issues outside the scope of conflict which are raised in this appeal. <u>See, e.g., Price v. State</u>, 995 So. 2d 401,

406 (Fla. 2008). On the other hand, as acknowledged by this Court in <u>South</u> <u>Florida Hospital Corporation</u>, that discretion should be exercised in a limited fashion and with appropriate deference to the courts of appeal.

In this proceeding, should the Court affirm the Second District Court of Appeal application of §768.26, Fla. Stat. to a pre-suit situation, there exists no compelling basis for further review of the application by the Trial Court of the policies and principles dictated by <u>Wiggins</u>, and <u>Catapane</u>, and as further explained by <u>Butler</u>, <u>Adams</u>, and <u>White</u>. The Second District Court of Appeal completed that judicial labor and there exists no reason for this Court to repeat that task.

D. The Trial Court Finding of No Conflict is Supported by Competent Substantial Evidence

Should this Court elect to exercise its discretion and consider issues outside the scope of the conflict jurisdiction, the trial court record contains ample and competent substantial evidence to support the evidentiary rulings of the trial court. The trial court below evaluated testimony and other evidence and made a factual finding that no competing claims regarding allocation of settlement proceeds existed among the three surviving brothers. "The standard of review applicable to a trial court decision based on a finding of fact is whether the decision is supported by competent substantial evidence. If the record on appeal discloses any competent substantial evidence to support the decision of the trier of fact, the order or judgment must be affirmed." The Appellate Process, Standards of Review, §9.6, Decisions of Fact at 139. <u>See also Clegg v. Chipola Aviation, Inc.</u>, 458 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); <u>Abreu v. Amaro</u>, 534 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). The lower court is in a "superior position 'to evaluate and weigh the testimony and evidence based upon its observation of the bearing, demeanor, and credibility of the witnesses." <u>Conner v. State</u>, 803 So.2d 598, 607 (Fla. 2001), citing <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 1028, 1032 (Fla. 1999).

The trial court determined there were no conflicting claims after determining the credibility of the witnesses and interpreting the alleged conflicting evidence. That determination "will not be set aside on review unless totally unsupported by competent substantial evidence." <u>Concreform Systems v. R.M.</u> Hicks Const. Co., 433 So. 2d 50 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

The Answer Brief filed in the 2d District Court of Appeal provides a detailed analysis of the record on appeal and the voluminous evidence that supports the trial court's determination that there was no evidence of any competing claims by the survivors. <u>See</u> 2d DCA Answer Brief at pp.24-32 & 38-43. The following summary of that evidence, as well as those facts discussed

in section II, supra, is based upon that detailed discussion and fully supported by references to the record contained in that narrative. <u>See id.</u>

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